FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/17/2018 2:13 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

	95861-1
Supreme Court No.	

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 75246-4-I (Consolidated with No. 15-4-06640-1 SEA)

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Estate of TAYLOR GRIFFITH Deceased.

KENNETH GRIFFITH and JACKIE GRIFFITH

Petitioners,

v.

BRADLEY J. MOORE,

in his capacity as personal representative,

Respondent,

and

MICHAEL B. KING; CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S.; et al.,

Lawyer Appellants/Petitioners.

LAWYER APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Michael B. King, Carney Badley Spellman, P.S., Jacquelyn A. Beatty, and Karr Tuttle Campbell seek review of the published decision terminating review in *Harris v. Griffith*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 638, 413 P.3d 51 (2018), issued by Division I of the Court of Appeals on March 5, 2018 (the "Opinion") (a copy of the slip opinion is attached as Appendix A).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the following issues warranting this Court's review:

- 1. Judicial Override of RCW 2.44.030. By making the fact of a lawyer's appearance conclusive proof of the existence of an attorney-client relationship, the Opinion judicially overrides RCW 2.44.030, which allows litigants to challenge the authority of a lawyer who files an appearance.
- 2. Direct Contradiction with Prior Determinations of this Court. By making the fact of a lawyer's appearance conclusive proof of the existence of an attorney-client relationship, the Opinion ignores this Court's well-established test for an attorney-client relationship as set forth in Bohn v. Cody, 119 Wn.2d 357, 832 P.2d 71 (1992), and other cases by this and other Washington courts, and as recognized by Washington Comment [11] to Rule of Professional Conduct ("RPC") 1.18.
- 3. Negative, Unintended Consequences for Clients, Lawyers, and the Courts. By making the fact of a lawyer's appearance conclusive

¹ A copy of RCW 2.44.030 is attached as Appendix B.

proof of the existence of an attorney-client relationship, the Opinion creates negative consequences for clients, lawyers, and the courts. The simple assertion by a lawyer of an attorney-client relationship would be sufficient to create such a relationship even over the client's protest. The Opinion also fails to recognize that lawyers, as humans, make mistakes. Binding lawyers to harmless mistakes does not serve the goals of the judicial system.

4. Limited and Saving Interpretation Not Possible. Even if the Opinion were somehow construed as holding only that the filing of an appearance creates a legal presumption in favor of an attorney-client relationship, the same vices would remain. Nothing in the entire Bohn v. Cody line of cases supports the existence of such a presumption in a dispute between an attorney and a would-be client.

For the reasons set forth in Section IV of this Petition, these issues warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), 13.4(b)(2), and 13.4(b)(4).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 24, 2014, sixteen year old Taylor Griffith was involved in an automobile accident with a vehicle driven by Mr. Steven Harris. CP 983–84. The accident resulted in the deaths of Taylor and Mr. Harris, and multiple injuries to Mrs. Margaret Harris. *Id.* Through attorney David Beninger, Mr. Harris's Estate and Mrs. Harris (collectively, the "Harrises") brought claims against the Estate of Taylor Griffith (the "Estate") and Taylor's parents Kenneth and Jackie Griffith (the "Griffith Parents"). CP 982–87. Taylor's and the Griffith Parents' insurer, Travelers Home and

Marine Insurance Company, retained Michael Jaeger to defend the Estate and the Griffith Parents. *See* CP 988–89.

The Griffith Parents were the sole beneficiaries of the Estate. CP 819. The Estate's assets consisted of approximately \$1000 and the contents of Taylor's bedroom. *Id.* The combined policy limit on the Travelers insurance policy was \$200,000. CP 675, 676. From the beginning, it was clear that the Harrises' funeral, medical, and other costs and damages would far exceed the \$201,000 available from a suit against the Estate alone, as well as any amount from the Griffith Parents if a judgment could be obtained against them. *See* CP 404–06.

On December 8, 2015, on a motion brought by Beninger—and over the Griffith Parents' objection—Brad Moore was appointed by a court commissioner as personal representative of the Estate. CP 1658–59; *see also* CP 1642–45. A week later, Jaeger filed a motion for revision at the direction of the Griffith Parents. CP 1663–75.

During the December 8, 2015 hearing the Harrises asserted the belief that the Estate, the Griffith Parents, or both had a viable bad faith claim against Travelers. CP 184–85. Travelers then offered to pay the costs for the Griffith Parents to retain personal counsel to advise them independently about assigning any potential bad faith claim to the Harrises as part of a settlement. *See* CP 469. The Griffith Parents hired Beatty as their personal counsel on December 15, 2015—the same day that the motion for revision challenging Moore's status as personal representative was filed.

See CP 461, 1663. Beatty never represented or claimed to represent the Estate at a time when Moore's status was not at issue.

On December 16, 2015, Jaeger amended his notice of appearance. CP 2254–55. While his original notice of appearance was on behalf of the "Defendants," his new notice specified "KENNETH GRIFFITH and JACKIE GRIFFITH; and BRADLEY J. MOORE, as Personal Representative of THE ESTATE OF TAYLOR GRIFFITH." Compare CP 988–89 with CP 2254–55 (capitalization in original). On December 17, 2015, and after receiving Jaeger's amended notice, Beatty filed her notice of association for "defendants Kenneth Griffith, Jackie Griffith, and the Estate of Taylor Griffith (deceased)" only. CP 2273–74. Beatty's notice did not include Moore because she did not believe that she represented Moore. Instead, she believed that representation of the Estate meant representation of the interests of the Estate's beneficiaries: the Griffith Parents. See CP 446. Beatty's practice focuses on insurance matters and appeals; she is not a trusts and estates lawyer. CP 457–59.

Beatty did not perform any legal services for or at the direction of Moore at any time. *See* CP 439–53. Moore also never sought any legal advice from Beatty and never provided any confidential information to Beatty. CP 449. Indeed, Moore declared twice in unambiguous terms that

² No one in this case has disputed that *Jaeger* represented Moore. The question here, however, is whether *Beatty and King* did so. The representations were different. But Court of Appeals' factual recitation appears to lump the three attorneys' actions together and ignores a great deal of what is uncontested in the record. *See generally* App. A.

LAWYER APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 4

_

Beatty did not represent him. On December 21, 2015, and in an email sent to Beatty and Beninger, among others, Moore said:

Ms. Beatty: You do not represent me as Personal Representative of the Estate of Taylor Griffith. Mr. Jaeger represents me. The Estate's insurer is paying him to represent me. . . . To the extent your email implies that you represent the Griffith Estate, let's be clear that you do not. You have no authority to act in any way on behalf of the Griffith Estate. I did not hire you and I did not authorize anyone hiring you. You have no authority to make any decision that impacts the Griffith Estate.

CP 474. And at 4:51 p.m. on January 5, 2016, Moore emailed Beatty that:

Let's be clear: I am the P.R. of the Griffith Estate. You do not represent me or the Estate (in spite of your prior representations to the Court to the contrary). . . . You are not authorized to make any representations on the Estate's behalf. As you told me yesterday at the courthouse, you represent Mr. and Mrs. Griffith.

CP 489.³ No engagement letter or other similar correspondence exists between Beatty and Moore. Her engagement letter was with the Griffith Parents only. CP 469–70, 471–72.

On or about December 17, 2015, Travelers retained King as preservation of error counsel for the then-anticipated trial. CP 565. King understood his clients to be Travelers' insureds: the Griffith Parents and the Estate. *See* CP 566–67. Because the challenge to Moore's status was still unresolved, King believed that his representation required him to act in the objective best interests of the Estate until such resolution could occur.

³ Although these two emails reference Beatty and not King, it is plain from the entire record that the representation of Moore by Beatty or King rises and falls entirely together. Review by this Court would still be required, however, even if this Court believed that these emails were applicable only as to Beatty and not as to King. As described in this Petition, Moore's and King's actions vis-à-vis one another demonstrate that Moore did not hold a subjective and reasonable belief that King was Moore's attorney.

See id. King's practice focuses on appellate advocacy; he too is not a trusts and estates lawyer. Both King and Beatty believed that Moore was acting contrary to the interests of the Estate and its beneficiaries (the Griffith Parents), and sought to protect the Estate and its beneficiaries against Moore. See CP 449, 652–59. The Griffith Parents, likewise, wanted Moore removed and had directed Beatty and King to advocate for that result. CP 566.

King filed his notice of association on January 4, 2016 on behalf of the "Defendants." CP 2336–37. King's notice did not include Moore because he did not believe that he represented Moore, CP 566-67; and his notice was the same as the notice filed by Jaeger (on behalf of the "Defendants") when no personal representative had yet been appointed for the Estate, CP 988–89.

Like Beatty, King did not perform any legal services for or at the direction of Moore. CP 566-68. And also like Beatty, Moore did not seek any legal advice from King, did not convey any confidential information to King, and did not have any engagement letter or other similar communications with King. See CP 566-67. In fact, Moore did not have any communications with King until January 5, 2016. CP 566, 568.

On January 5, 2016, the Harrises suddenly dismissed the claims against the Griffith Parents without prejudice. 4 CP 2425–26. Beatty then asked the trial court to resolve the issue of Moore's status before trial began,

⁴ These claims have since been renewed. Beatty and King moved to add the amended complaint to the record on appeal on November 17, 2017, attached as Appendix C. The Court of Appeals denied the motion on December 18, 2017.

and the trial court asked Beninger for argument on that matter. CP 2426–27. Instead of directly answering the court's question, Beninger asked the trial court to have each attorney identify whom they represented given that the Griffith Parents had been dismissed. CP 2427. Jaeger, Beatty, and King each stated that they represented the Estate without making any reference to Moore. CP 2429. The trial court then moved on to other motions in limine without addressing Moore's status. CP 2430.

That afternoon, Beninger announced that he and Moore had reached an arbitration agreement—without any knowledge or involvement of Jaeger, Beatty, or King on Moore's behalf. CP 2453; *see also* CP 403. Later that same afternoon, and as already noted, Moore emailed Beatty: "Let's be clear: . . . You do not represent me or the Estate." CP 489.

Approximately an hour and a half after Moore once again told Beatty that she did not represent him, Moore sent his first and only instructions to either Beatty or King. CP 491–92. He instructed them both not to oppose the arbitration agreement. *Id.* Neither obeyed his order. Beatty and King both believed that Moore was not their client because his authority to act as personal representative was in dispute and because they believed they were entitled to protect the Estate against Moore. *See* CP 449, 652–69. In response to Moore's unexpected change of position, both Beatty and King told Moore that he was not their client, and both moved to withdraw from their representation of the Estate. CP 494–95, 604, 2358–59, 2378–79.

On January 27, 2016, Beatty and King filed a TEDRA complaint on behalf of the Griffith Parents and against Moore. CP 796–818. On March

31, 2016, and in a motion later joined by Moore, Beninger moved under RCW 2.44.020 and 2.44.030 to determine Beatty's and King's authority to act and to disqualify them on the ground that Beatty and King had previously represented Moore. CP 1–2, 4, 990–1002.

On April 27, 2016, the trial court ordered Beatty and King disqualified. CP 781–85. Judge Doyle based her decision solely on the fact that they had entered appearances on behalf of the Estate, which she believed constituted representation of Moore as a matter of law. *Id.* Thus, everything else in the record (which included not only the facts referenced above but also citations to *Bohn v. Cody*) was "beside the point," or irrelevant, because "Moore is the PR unless and until this Court removes him." CP 784.

The Petitioners timely appealed the trial court's disqualification order, and Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed on the same bases as the trial court. *See generally* App. A. Although Beatty and King filed a motion for reconsideration, attached as Appendix D, the Court of Appeals denied reconsideration. The Petitioners now seek this Court's review.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. This Court should grant review to decide whether a party retains the right under RCW 2.44.030 to challenge an attorney's authority to act.

Under RCW 2.44.030, a purported client or representative of the opposing party may challenge an attorney's authority to act on the purported client's behalf. *See Johnsen v. Petersen*, 43 Wn. App. 801, 806, 719 P.2d 607 (1986). This is a long-recognized right in Washington courts. *See id*.

And it was invoked by the Harrises and Moore in aid of seeking disqualification. CP 1–2, 4, 990–1002.

The Opinion effectively nullifies this statute by judicial fiat. Under the Opinion, an irrebuttable presumption exists that an attorney's appearance alone is sufficient to create an attorney-client relationship, regardless of what else is in the record. App. A at 11. ("Moore's status as their client is controlled by the fact that Beatty and King entered formal notices of appearance . . . on behalf of the estate.") If an attorney always has authority to act as a result of entering a formal appearance, RCW 2.44.030 could never be invoked.

Absent a claim of unconstitutionality, courts must not interpret the law in a manner that renders a statute meaningless or without purpose. *John H. Sellen Constr. Co. v. State Dep't of Revenue*, 87 Wn.2d 878, 883, 558 P.2d 1342 (1976). No party has argued that RCW 2.44.030 violates the constitution. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals rendered RCW 2.44.030 illusory through the creation of its novel presumption. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because whether RCW 2.44.030 retains validity is an issue of substantial public importance that this Court should decide.

- B. This Court should grant review because the Opinion conflicts with prior decisions by this Court and by the Court of Appeals.
 - 1. The presumption expressed in the Opinion directly contradicts the test used by this and other courts to determine whether an attorney-client relationship exists.

The Opinion creates an irrebuttable presumption that a formal notice of appearance creates an attorney-client relationship regardless of the beliefs and actions of the purported client and purported attorney. App. A at 11. Even if this presumption were held only rebuttable, however, it would still flatly contradict the test set forth by this Court in *Bohn v. Cody*. The *Bohn v. Cody* test has been applied in all other Washington cases since 1992, is recognized in this Court's official comments to the Washington RPCs, and is consistent with the tests used by courts across the country, regardless of jurisdiction.

For at least a quarter century, the test to determine whether an attorney-client relationship exists has required the party asserting an attorney-client relationship to demonstrate that the purported client had a subjective and reasonable belief that an attorney-client relationship existed. *E.g.*, *Bohn*, 119 Wn.2d at 363. Every single decision of this Court since *Bohn v. Cody* has applied this *Bohn v. Cody* test.⁵

LAWYER APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW - 10

-

⁵ E.g., In re Jackson, 180 Wn.2d 201, 229, 322 P.3d 795 (2014) (attorney discipline); Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co., 146 Wn.2d 291, 306, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002) (liability for non-lawyer providing lawyer-like functions); Dietz v. Doe, 131 Wn.2d 835, 843–44, 935 P.2d 611 (1997) (availability of attorney-client privilege); Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 189, 905 P.2d 355 (1995) (disqualification). Moore and the Harris Creditors argued below that the Bohn v. Cody test did not apply to motions to disqualify, an argument that cannot be reconciled with, inter alia, Sherman, 128 Wn.2d 164.

Washington Comment [11] to RPC 1.18 likewise requires application of the *Bohn v. Cody* test. This Comment provides in part that RPC 1.18 "is not intended to modify existing case law defining when a client-lawyer relationship is formed" and then cites *Bohn v. Cody* as that existing case law.⁶ The *Bohn v. Cody* test is also applied in every case involving a "who is the client" question decided by the U.S. District Courts for the Districts of Washington,⁷ and, except for the instant Opinion, by the Washington Court of Appeals.⁸

The framework of the *Bohn v. Cody* test is also substantively the same as the test used to determine the existence of an attorney-client relationship by the Restatement⁹ and in every other case that Beatty and King have found, regardless of jurisdiction.¹⁰ In addition, it is clear in absolutely all of these authorities that the burden of proof for the existence of an attorney-client relationship is on the party asserting the relationship,

⁶ See also Washington Comment [17] to the Scope section of the RPCs: "For purposes of determining the lawyer's authority and responsibility, principles of substantive law external to these Rules determine whether a client-lawyer relationship exists."

⁷ See, e.g., McElmurry v. Ingebritson, No. 2:16-cv-00419-SAB, 2017 WL 5346417, at *2 (E.D. Wash. Nov. 13, 2017) (slip op.) (legal malpractice); Avocent Redmond Corp. v. Rose Elecs., 491 F. Supp. 2d 1000, 1003–04 (W.D. Wash. 2007) (disqualification). Accord, e.g., Global Enter., LLC v. Mongomery Purdue Blankinship & Austin PLLC, 691 Fed. App'x 460 (Mem.) (9th Cir. 2017) (applying Bohn v. Cody).

⁸ See, e.g., Ordal v. First Am. Title Ins. Co., 188 Wn. App. 1009, 2015 WL 3617813, at *2 (June 8, 2015) (unpublished) (legal malpractice); State v. Reeder, 181 Wn. App. 897, 910–11, 330 P.3d 786 (2014) (disqualification); Broyles v. Thurston Cty., 147 Wn. App. 409, 442, 195 P.3d 985 (2008) (availability of attorney-client privilege).

⁹ Restatement (Third), The Law Governing Lawyers § 14(1).

¹⁰ See, e.g., Bartholomew v. Bartholomew, 611 So. 2d 85, 86 (Fla. 1992) (disqualification); New Destiny Treatment Ctr., Inc. v. Wheeler, 950 N.E.2d 157, 162 (Ohio 2011) (legal malpractice); Roderick v. Ricks, 54 P.3d 1119, 1127 (Utah 2002) (citing Bohn, 119 Wn.2d at 363) (legal malpractice).

that the decision must be made on the basis of the record as a whole, and that there are no applicable presumptions—whether rebuttable or irrebuttable. *E.g.*, *Dietz*, 131 Wn.2d at 843–44; *Bohn*, 119 Wn.2d at 363.

The Court of Appeals was bound not simply to cite Bohn v. Cody one time, which it did (App. A at 10), but to apply it as this Court's precedent. Gorman v. Pierce Cty., 176 Wn. App. 63, 76, 307 P.3d 795 (2013). Instead of doing so, however, the Opinion decided that all that the Court of Appeals or the trial court needed to know was that Beatty and King had asserted they were appearing on behalf of the Estate, which then meant as a matter of law that they represented Moore as well. App. A at 11. In addition, and like the trial court decision, the Opinion does not place the burden of proving the existence of an attorney-client relationship on the parties seeking to establish the relationship, nor does it consider the record as a whole. Although the Court of Appeals did not expressly address the allocation of the burden, the court clearly placed the burden of disproving a relationship on Beatty and King. App. A at 11 (stating that "Moore's statement that 'you do not represent me' falls short of demonstrating a subjective belief" and that "the circumstances did not make it reasonable to doubt" that an attorney-client relationship existed).

The Opinion thus does not consider how, in view of the entire record, Moore could or did carry his burden to show that he held a subjective and reasonable belief that Beatty and King were his attorneys. Instead, it identified only a single piece of evidence relating to the existence or nonexistence of a subjective and reasonable belief by Moore that he was

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