FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/18/2018 3:06 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95861-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Estate of: TAYLOR GRIFFITH

KENNETH GRIFFITH and JACKIE GRIFFITH,

Petitioners,

v.

BRADLEY J. MOORE, in his capacity as Personal Representative,

Respondent,

MICHAEL B. KING; CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S., et al., Petitioners.

RESPONDENT HARRIS CREDITORS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LUVERA LAW FIRM

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: David M. Beninger WSBA No. 18432 By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith

WSBA No. 9542

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

C. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

- 1. The Court of Appeals decision is wholly consistent with RPC 1.9 and the principles requiring disqualification of an attorney who sues a former client.
 - a. An attorney cannot sue a former client; all doubts are resolved in favor of disqualification.

"A lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter represent another person in the same or a substantially related matter in which that person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client unless the former client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing." RPC 1.9(a). If the conflict has not been waived, the attorney must withdraw. See Discipline of Carpenter, 160 Wn.2d 16, 26, ¶ 19, 155 P.3d 937 (2007) (attorney violated RPC 1.7 and 1.9 by initially representing two clients with conflicting interests and thereafter defending one of the clients in an indemnification action brought by the other client; no waiver of conflict absent informed written consent); State v. Stenger, 111 Wn.2d 516, 520-21, 760 P.2d 357 (1988).

Disqualification orders are reviewed for abuse of discretion. All doubts must be resolved in favor of disqualification, as an attorney's "conduct should not be weighed with hairsplitting nicety." *Kurbitz v. Kurbitz*, 77 Wn.2d 943, 946, 468 P.2d 673 (1970).

b. The attorney-client relationship is between the attorney and an estate's personal representative.

"In probate, the attorney-client relationship exists between the attorney and the personal representative of the estate." *Estate of Larson*, 103 Wn.2d 517, 520-21, 694 P.2d 1051 (1985) (citing *Estate of Peterson*, 12 Wn.2d 686, 123 P.2d 733 (1942)). As Mr. King conceded shortly after admitting in open court that he represented the Estate (CP 81, 567), Mr. Moore as personal representative represents the Estate, and Mr. King and Ms. Beatty as co-counsel for

the Estate, represented Mr. Moore. *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 840, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994).¹

Mr. King and Ms. Beatty were not "mistaken." (Pet. 2, 14, 19) That an Estate may only act through its personal representative is not an open question. *Peterson*, 12 Wn.2d at 730. And this Court decidedly did not leave "open the question whether an attorney could represent [an] Estate against its personal representative" in *Trask*. (Pet. 18) This Court rejected a duty to estate *beneficiaries* by the attorney representing the personal representative of an Estate in *Trask*, citing *Larson* for the proposition that "in probate the attorney-client relationship exists between the attorney and the personal representative." 123 Wn.2d at 840. In doing so this Court clearly relied on the attorney's obligations to his client, the personal representative of the estate, noting "the unresolvable conflict of interest an estate attorney encounters in deciding whether to

Petitioners repeatedly claim they "sought to protect the Estate and its beneficiaries against Moore" (Pet. 6-7, 14, 17-18), but they in fact sought to protect the liability insurer from an insurance bad faith claim – the Estate's primary asset. Petitioners ignore that the personal representative's duty to marshal estate assets is owed not just to a beneficiary but to all those "beneficially interested in the estate" including its "valid creditors." Estate of Wilson, 8 Wn. App. 519, 527-28, 507 P.2d 902, rev. denied, 82 Wn.2d 1010 (1973); Kerns v. Pickett, 49 Wn.2d 770, 772, 306 P.2d 112 (1957) ("the power of executors to manage and control an estate exists for the protection of creditors") (emphasis in original).

represent the personal representative, the estate, or the estate heirs" that would otherwise exist. *Trask*, 123 Wn.2d at 845.

c. An attorney's words and actions can prove the attorney-client relationship, particularly where a liability insurer appoints defense counsel to represent an insured.

The attorney-client relationship "may be inferred from the parties' conduct or based upon the client's reasonable subjective belief." Teja v. Saran, 68 Wn. App. 793, 795, 846 P.2d 1375, rev. denied, 122 Wn.2d 1008 (1993) (emphasis added) (citing Bohn v. Cody, 119 Wn.2d 357, 363, 832 P.2d 71 (1992)). Here, Mr. Moore (unsuccessfully) instructed his insurer-appointed attorneys to provide their case evaluations, not to seek his removal, not to limit the scope of the summary judgment on liability, and to agree to arbitration when it was clear they were unprepared for trial. (CP 51, 56, 381-83, 401-02, 491) He clearly thought his counsel should be acting on behalf of him and the Estate. Yet as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized (Op. 10), the represented party's subjective belief is not a necessary predicate to violation and disqualification under RPC 1.9(a). Nor could Mr. Moore's frustrations and objection to his insurer-retained attorneys' failure to follow his directions excuse counsels' failure to comply with RPC 1.9. (Op. 10-11)

In *Teja*, Division III held that the trial court erred in denying a motion to disqualify an attorney who had previously consulted with an individual about a business dispute and then appeared on behalf of the other party after litigation was commenced. 68 Wn. App. at 800. "[A]ttorney side switching undermines the integrity of the legal system in the eyes of the public;" nothing less would protect "the ethical purity of the legal system." 68 Wn. App. at 801. Petitioners do not cite, much less discuss, *Teja*, a case that refutes their claim that "in every other case that Beatty and King have found, regardless of jurisdiction," the client's subjective belief controlled the existence of the attorney-client relationship. (Pet. 10-11)

Petitioners' reliance on *Discipline of Jackson*, 180 Wn.2d 201, 322 P.3d 795 (2014) (Pet. 10 n.5) is particularly misplaced. In *Jackson*, the disbarred attorney argued "that there was no attorney-client relationship because the record is devoid of any evidence that North believed Jackson was his [transaction] lawyer," but the attorney had "made offers on various properties, negotiated contracts, and held funds" for North. 180 Wn.2d at 229, ¶ 78. Subjective belief may be required in cases like *Bohn* where, unlike here, there is no objective indicia of the creation of the attorney-client relationship. But the *Jackson* Court, citing *Bohn*, recognized

that "the attorney's words or actions" were relevant to the determination of the relationship, rejecting the argument that the client's subjective belief was controlling. 180 Wn.2d at 229, ¶ 78.

As in *Jackson*, there is objective evidence that petitioners represented Mr. Moore in his capacity as personal representative of the Harris Estate. Petitioners filed notices of association as cocounsel with Lewis Brisbois for all defendants, including "Bradley J. Moore, as Personal Representative of the estate of Taylor Griffith." (CP 36, 40, 48) They unequivocally affirmed to the trial court that they represented the Estate, both on the record and in briefing filed in the tort action after the Griffith parents had been dismissed, admittedly to remain as counsel for the Estate as the sole remaining defendant in the tort action. (CP 2348) For purposes of RPC 1.9(a), this conduct *by the attorneys* proves the attorney-client relationship with the Estate.

Reliance on such objective indicia of an attorney-client relationship is particularly justified where, as here, defense counsel is chosen by a liability insurer to represent an insured. In the insurance context, the insured may have never met insurer-selected defense counsel and may have no say in her selection, but defense counsel nonetheless owes a duty of loyalty to the insured client. *See*

Kruger-Willis v. Hoffenburg, 198 Wn. App. 408, 416-17, ¶¶ 16-19, 393 P.3d 844, rev. denied, 189 Wn.2d 1010 (2017) (Pet. 18). The Court of Appeals thus correctly held that "[a]s soon as Beatty and King filed their notices of appearance, they owed their client the duties discussed in Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 388-89, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986)." (Op. 11)

Though they fail to even cite *Tank* in their petition, the petitioner lawyers indisputably owed their duties of loyalty to Mr. Moore as personal representative of the Estate, not to the insurer who had retained them, under *Tank* and its progeny. The Bar advisory opinion relied upon by the Court of Appeals (Op. 12, quoting WSBA Rules of Prof'l Conduct Comm., Advisory Op. 1578 (1994)) also correctly reflects the consequences of filing a notice of appearance and association as co-counsel by a lawyer retained by an insurance company to represent insureds whose interests then conflict. The Court of Appeals correctly held that RPC 1.9 prevents an attorney from appearing on behalf of a client and then acting against the client's interest in the same lawsuit.

d. An insurance attorney's claimed "mistake" in representing a client cannot excuse the attorney's subsequent attempt to sue the client.

Petitioner attorneys now claim that their deliberate assertions that they represented the Estate were somehow mistaken and should be "excused," because they are not "trusts and estates" lawyers. (Pet. 4, 6)² First, petitioners argued the opposite below in response to the trial court's request for additional briefing to address RPC 1.9, vociferously claiming that they could represent the Estate without being later foreclosed from removing the Estate's personal representative. (CP 1521-31) Second, excusing petitioners' claimed "mistake" would work a remarkable reversal not only of the fiduciary burdens placed on attorneys in representing their clients and their representations to the courts, but of an insurer's duty to defend

² Put more affirmatively, petitioners argue that they should not be bound by their affirmations of representation because they are insurance defense lawyers. Petitioners erroneously rely on City of Goldendale v. Graves, 14 Wn. App. 925, 929-30, 546 P.2d 462 (1976), aff d on other grounds, 88 Wn.2d 417, 562 P.2d 1272 (1977) to argue that "attorneys are human, thus occasionally make mistakes." (Pet. 14, 20) In Goldendale, an attorney failed to note an appeal of a DUI conviction to Superior Court within 20 days of filing of the District Court transcript, as required by JCrR 6.03(b). 14 Wn. App. at 926. The appellate court found good cause to allow the appeal to go forward because counsel had complied with all other procedural deadlines, and missed this one deadline "through no intent or act of his own volition." 14 Wn. App. at 929. Here, to the contrary, petitioners' alleged "mistake" was substantive, pervasive, deliberate, and intended to protect the insurer that had retained them, not the insured client they represented.

under *Tank*. Petitioners cite no authority for the proposition that they should not be bound by their representations and actions, supposedly taken on behalf of the Estate, nor is there any. *See Discipline Proceeding Against Vetter*, 104 Wn.2d 779, 787, 711 P.2d 284 (1985) (no excuse to misconduct that disbarred attorney "failed to realize that as the attorney for the personal representative, he represented the . . . estate").

Nor does Kruger-Willis v. Hoffenburg, 198 Wn. App. 408, 393 P.3d 844 (2017) (Pet. 18) support the claim that petitioners, having been retained by the *insurer* to represent the Estate, were not Mr. Moore's attorney given he was lawfully appointed as the Estate's personal representative. In Kruger-Willis, unlike here, the plaintiff claimed that insurer-retained defense counsel had no authority to act for the insured defendant in settling her tort claim. Unlike here, there also was no evidence that the defense attorney had acted contrary to his insured client's wishes. Petitioners also confuse the broad scope of representation with the authority to bind the client or perform particular acts within the scope of representation. See RPC 1.2. Kruger-Willis does not in any way support petitioners' claim that an attorney can act adversely to the client's expressed interests

and direction, or that the attorney can subsequently seek to have his client removed from his position. (Pet. 17)

In claiming to represent the Estate, the attorney petitioners represented Mr. Moore, the personal representative; they could not thereafter represent the Griffith parents in attempting to have their former client removed as personal representative. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that disqualification was the only proper remedy for the attorneys' violation of RPC 1.9(a); the Court of Appeals' opinion affirming that discretionary decision follows well-settled law governing attorneys' ethical responsibilities and disqualification, and raises no issue for further review under RAP 13.4(b).

2. Acting on information gained through RCW 2.44.030 does not "nullify" or "judicially override" the statute.

RCW 2.44.030 provides a statutory mechanism for "either the client or the opposing party" to ask the court to require an attorney to establish their authority "to start[] or pursue[] litigation." *Johnsen v. Petersen*, 43 Wn. App. 801, 806-07, 719 P.2d 607 (1986). It is one of a series of statutes in RCW ch. 2.44 defining an attorney's authority to act in court proceedings. Under these interrelated statutes, a court can compel an attorney to confirm the general

authority to appear on behalf of a client and the specific authority to take particular actions during the litigation, all at the risk to the attorney of being ordered to "repair the injury to either party" from any unauthorized activity. RCW 2.44.020. The Court of Appeals' decision does not in any affect these broad statutory rights or remedies.

The Harris family moved to compel proof of the authority of petitioners to act as contemplated by RCW 2.44.030; Mr. Moore as personal representative of the Estate joined in the motion, as his former lawyers now sought his removal as personal representative. (CP 1, 4, 990) The trial court thereafter relied on the representations of petitioner attorneys that they represented the Estate in ordering their disqualification from representing the Griffith parents in their (or their insurer's) "mission" to have Mr. Moore removed as personal representative.

The Court of Appeals' opinion does not even cite this procedural statute; it is an understatement for petitioners to admit that in this case "[n]o party has argued that RCW 2.44.030 violates the constitution." (Pet. 9) For this reason alone, the Court should decline to consider petitioners' claim that the Court of Appeals' decision "nullifies th[e] statute by judicial fiat." (Pet. 9)

Buchsieb/Danard, Inc. v. Skagit Cnty., 99 Wn.2d 577, 581, 663 P.2d 487 (1983) ("We continue to adhere to our rule that, except as to issues of manifest error affecting a constitutional right, issues not raised at the trial court or the Court of Appeals cannot be raised for the first time before the Supreme Court.") (citing Pappas v. Hershberger, 85 Wn.2d 152, 153-54, 530 P.2d 642 (1975); Peoples Nat'l Bank v. Peterson, 82 Wn.2d 822, 829-30, 514 P.2d 159 (1973)). As petitioners do not (and could not) claim a constitutional right to represent one client against another, RAP 2.5(a) has no application.

In any event, petitioners' argument that the Court of Appeals "nullified" a statute it doesn't even mention makes no sense. Neither the Court of Appeals' decision nor any fanciful extrapolation from it would support the petitioners' claim that their notices of appearance on behalf of the Estate would render their clients (or the courts) helpless to challenge their conduct as counsel thereafter. As the trial court's decision well illustrates, RCW 2.44.030 remains a powerful mechanism for a client or any other interested party to challenge the authority of an attorney who has switched sides or otherwise acted against her client's interests.

3. That petitioners have been sued for their violation of the RPCs is no basis for consideration of documents that were neither before the trial court or the Court of Appeals.

By separate order entered on December 18, 2017 (Ex. A), over three months before it issued its decision on the merits, the Court of Appeals denied petitioners' motion to "add documents to [the] record on appeal." Although they did not timely seek review of that interlocutory decision "within 30 days after the decision [was] filed," RAP 13.5(a), petitioners now rely on the same documents that the Court of Appeals prohibited them from putting in the record, attaching their motion in the Court of Appeals as Appendix C to their Petition (hereafter cited as "Motion").

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